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Icons of Saint Parasceve. Roads between Veliko Tarnovo, Belgrade, Iaşi and the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth
The subject of my paper is the cult of Saint Parasceve, often called Petka by Southern Slavs. Her iconography in the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth has a long tradition and is very widespread. Icons from this area depicting the story of the saint's life can be considered particularly interesting.  In my paper I will discuss in a little more detail such an icon, dating to the 15th century, which is in the collection of the National Museum in Warsaw and appears to have particularly strong links with the culture of the southern Slavs. One of its key scenes, like other hagiographic icons of Saint Paraskeva, is the translation of her relics. It is precisely the translations of Saint Paraskeva's relics between Veliko Tarnovo, Belgrade, Constantinople, and Iași, between the 13th and 17th centuries, that are crucial for the spread of her cult in Central Europe during this period. A unique role in the establishment of the cult of Saint Parasceve in 15th century over such a large area was also played by Gregory Tsamblak, who in a special way connected Bulgaria, Serbia, and the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth.
Marija Jović 
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Paths of Cultural Heritage: Artistic Treasures under the Auspices of the Serbian Orthodox Church

Museum of the Serbian Orthodox Church marks a 70-year anniversary this year. The museum carefully keeps and displays priceless cultural treasures. 20 000 exhibits are assigned into several collections: manuscripts, icons, textiles, metalwork, woodwork, archives, old printed books etc. The permanent exhibition highlights thematic units that guide the visitors through the history of Serbian art under the auspices of the church. The displayed exhibits offer us an abundance of themes, authors, and sites where they were located from the 7th century onwards: the broad territory under the jurisdiction of the Serbian Church was spread from Kosovo and Metohija in the south, to the Metroplonate of Karlovci in the North and the Eparchy of Dalmatia in the west; one can see the works of most significant Serbian painters from zograf Longin to Uroš Predić, Epitaphios of King Milutin, various charters of Serbian, Austrian, and Ottoman rulers etc. Manuscripts and old printed books testify about the relations between Serbia and other countries, like the Four Gospel book written in 16th century (MSPC ORG 184) and sent to Serbia as a gift from Fewronia Pankiewicz from Przemyśl, Poland.
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Transnational Artistic Patronage in the Sixteenth-Century Orthodox World: Two Examples from the Collection of the National Museum of Serbia

Ottoman conquests in southeastern Europe altered the political and cultural landscape of the region, affecting the patterns of artistic patronage. Following the dissolution of the medieval Serbian state, there were no longer powerful and affluent members of the ruling families and nobility who could act as founders of monumental structures and benefactors of monastic communities. While in the last decades of the 15th century and in the 16th century, it was mostly church dignitaries and other clerics who undertook restoration works and painting of existing churches, as well as the commissioning of liturgical objects, there are also examples of rulers from neighbouring lands donating to well-known Serbian ecclesiastic foundations and even founding new ones on the territories of the former Serbian state. Acts of transnational cultural patronage were not uncommon in medieval Christendom; however, following the fall of Constantinople and Ottoman dominance in the Balkan lands, the significance of such acts became even greater for Orthodox rulers, who sought to establish themselves as defenders of the faith. The Collection of Post-Byzantine and Early Modern Serbian Art of the National Museum of Serbia holds two examples of the donating activity of foreign rulers on Serbian soil from the 16th century. The first includes fragments of the wall painting from the church of the monastery of Lapušnja in eastern Serbia, built in 1501 by the Wallachian ruler Radu the Great and a nobleman by the name of Gergina, subsequently painted through the efforts of a certain Duke Bogoje and his family. The other is a phelonion collar, once housed in the treasury of the Dečani monastery, carrying the inscription stating that the priestly vestment which it adorned was made by Lady Despina, the wife of Voivode Neagoe, also ruler of Wallachia, in 1519. In this paper, these objects and their history will be presented, along with other examples of cross-cultural patronage in the Orthodox world, in the hope of further elucidating the ideological ramifications of such acts and pathways of stylistic exchanges evident in the art of the period.
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Common Past, Shared Cultural Heritage, and the Necessity of Transnational Custodianship. The Case of Serbian-Romanian-Hungarian Border Region 
The conclusion of World War I and the disintegration of Austria-Hungary heralded profound transformations in the geopolitical landscape of Central, Eastern, and Southeastern Europe. The 1920 Treaty of Trianon engendered a momentous impact on Hungary, culminating in a substantial territorial loss and redrawing of the state borders. In parts of the former empire, ethnic groups such as Orthodox Romanians and Serbs as well as other (mostly Roman Catholic) South Slavs, hitherto (religious) minorities living within a Catholic-dominated Empire, found themselves in newly formed or expanded national states. Nonetheless, the realignment of borders both fulfilled the aspirations of some groups and marginalized others (mostly Hungarians and Germans, but also Serbs of today's Romania and Hungary), who found themselves (again) relegated to minority status within the redefined states. 

During the Habsburg rule these groups belonged to the same social system and cultural sphere, and were commonly exposed to similar norms and standards, largely defined by the Viennese court. Consequently, Serbian Orthodox religious art from the 18th and 19th century, created within the Habsburg Empire, occasionally, and in certain points in time even frequently, shared visual elements with neighbouring Catholic communities. The border alterations in 1918, alongside the significant demographic shifts throughout the 20th century, greatly affected the region's cultural heritage. As the political and socioeconomic influence of ethnic minority groups changed, these communities experienced gradual decline, paralleled by transformations in the status of their cultural heritage. In the post-World War I era, these communities faced varied treatment of their heritage, ranging from protection to neglect or even destruction, within often ideologically charged host societies.  

Analyzing historical society with a contemporary, politically influenced perspective risks overlooking vital aspects necessary for a comprehensive understanding of this art historical heritage. Separating one visual or cultural phenomenon from its original sociocultural context often barrages its more thorough and comprehensive understanding. Furthermore, mutual preservation of cultural heritage stands as the most pragmatic approach in mitigating its potential deterioration. This presentation underscores the importance of adopting a transnational approach to researching and preserving shared heritage. It also aims to illuminate the profound implications of these efforts for comprehending the interconnected architectural and art historical legacy of the region.
Branislav Stanković
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Baroque among Serbs

After the Austro-Turkish wars and the Great Migration of Serbs to Austria in 1690, significant cultural and historical changes ensued, spearheaded by the Serbian church as the leading spiritual force of the Serbs. The new cultural model imposed in this emerging situation was Baroque. Initially embraced by religious leaders and the newly formed affluent bourgeoisie, there was a pronounced need for religious reform implementation through education. The central theme of reform was the church's authority and the religious leader strengthening, who was also the primary political figure at the time. The affluent bourgeoisie also sought changes mirroring Central European Baroque culture, which strongly influenced the development of Baroque culture among the Serbs, particularly in painting. Despite the need for new forms in color and space usage, religious themes continued to dominate, supplemented by landscapes and architecture. Zaharije Orfelin, Teodor Kračun, and Hristofor Žefarović are the most significant names in Serbian Baroque painting. They introduced a new canon into Serbian art and contributed to the reinforcement of European influences in Serbian painting.
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Orthodox Church Architecture and Its Theology – Past and Present
Dumb art is able to speak.
St. Gregory of Nyssa
The work is a synthetic presentation of the status, purpose and meaning of the category of Tradition in the Eastern Orthodox Church, in confrontation with the state of consciousness and spiritual condition of modern civilization. By means of a theological exposition of the truths of faith, at the level of communication of the language of architecture, it exhibits the hermeneutics of this Tradition and its methodology of action, encoded in the archetypal-symbolic structures of the church. The presentation of the author's ideas, designs and realizations of churches, in the context of selected examples of sacred architecture of Poland and Eastern European countries, will reveal both the process of transposing its basic values and their development in categories proper to the art of shaping this architecture, and in terms of understanding and concreting its theological sense and the purpose it is intended to serve. This is crucial to the process of creating a contemporary vision of the liturgical space of the Orthodox church and its soteriological significance. At present this process is constantly subjected to pressure from the pluralism of modern civilization. Fidelity to Tradition invests this with unequivocal resistance and deliverance. It ensures both freedom of creation and protection of its fundamental values - truth, goodness and beauty. The Orthodox idea of the church understood as an image of the transfigured cosmos, which is a 'reflection of the glory of God', is in fact based on these foundations.
Dr. Božidar Manić
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Between Tradition and Traditionalism: Contemporary Serbian Orthodox Church Architecture

Contemporary practice of church building in the Serbian Orthodox Church is conditioned not only by church regulations but also by tradition. As tradition plays an exceptional role in Orthodox theology, the role of tradition and its significance cannot be disputed in church architecture. The main question is what constitutes the essence of tradition and what are the mechanisms of its transmission and change, as well as who are the interpreters – the clergy, believers and/or the architect.

Due to unfavourable conditions for church activness during the socialist era, a relatively small number of new churches and chapels of the SOC were built. The post Second World War acceptance of Modernist innovations in the field of secular architecture did not find resonance in the sacred construction of the SOC. After decades of stagnation since the 1940s, the revival of church construction was fully manifested after the societal shifts in the early 1990s. A large number of architects began to participate in this area of design, often with prior experience in the preservation of architectural heritage, which contributed to the absolute dominance of historicist authorial poetics.

There still persists a strong emphasis on the superficial, strictly formal attributes of historical architecture, treating them as unchanging and mandatory values. This approach overlooks a fundamental aspect of tradition: its vital process of consistent renewal and the flow of change across generations. The traditionalist stance towards church architecture is common among clergy and believers as end-users, as well as among most architects. There are elements in the design of churches and rules that are fixed and non-negotiable, but innovative elements of design do not necessarily violate traditionally adopted values. The task for architects, who have to understand the basic principles of tradional church building, should be to interpret them in a new, creative way and bring in the spirit of contemporary architecture.
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Frescoe Technique and the Reason for Permanence

Art is a social phenomenon. The influence of society on the artist who lives and creates within that society is significant. This influence is manifested not only in the choice of motifs and materials but also in the transposition of social structure and temperature into visual language. The materialization of artistic feeling is by no means a mechanical matter. Visual materials and tools, despite being inanimate matter, have their own philosophy, essence, and will. Each visual material, in a visual sense, is an instrument with a special visual resonance that distinguishes it from other materials with different visual resonances.

The seminar paper consists of a practical demonstration of the technique and a theoretical part. The practical part of the project consists of photographs of the process of creating fresco paintings, works carried out by students of the Faculty of Applied Arts. In the theoretical written part of the paper, the history of painting workshops, materials, and the process of fresco painting will be examined through several chapters: the procedure for working on frescoes, preparing the wall for fresco painting, lime as a binder for color, making fresco mortar, pigments, and tools in fresco painting. The paper will first present painting workshops in Serbia in the Middle Ages, the most significant representatives, and their works in the fresco technique. The objectives of the paper are based on questions of carriers, choice of substrate, color, and binders as the main factors of the longevity of the fresco technique. The method in the largest part of the paper is analytical-comparative and interpretative, with the aim of elucidating and defining painting techniques, technical and procedural realization of the technique. Thanks to long experiences, and materials being well prepared, frescoes mostly deteriorated due to physical destruction and changes in conditions in which they were located (earthquakes, fires, demolitions, humidity, etc.), and not due to mistakes made during painting or the use of poor materials. Considering all the mentioned factors will contribute to a clear understanding of the fresco technique as one of the most enduring techniques in painting.
Dr. Volha Barysenka

Independent researcher, Minsk

The Sculpture of Jesus the Nazarene from the (post)Uniate Church in Porplišča as an Example of Miraculous Image Uniting Orthodoxes and Catholics

In the village of Porplišča of Dokšycy region, Vitebsk Oblast, Belarus, there is a wonder-working sculpture of Jesus the Nazarene made in the 1780-es on request of parishioners of the local Uniate church. The choice of this very type of sacred object is believed to be conditioned by the growing cult of miraculous sculpture of Jesus the Nazarene of Antokol in the Trinitarian cloister in Wilno (Vilnius) in the nearby Uniate medium. The statue deserves interest due to several reasons. First, we can hardly find another wonder-working statue of Uniate origin in Orthodox churches in Belarus. In difference from other wonder-working statues venerated in the 17-19th centuries, which have not preserved (at least in religious cult), it has survived through the liquidation of Union, two devastating world wars and communism, when many sacred objects were lost or destroyed.

Moreover, a manuscript was preserved that describes the origin and miracles associated with the sculpture since 1788 till 1802, which allows to trace the genesis of its cult. In most cases we are limited only with mentions of such manuscripts from the 17-19th centuries. From the very origin, the stature became an object of veneration by Uniates and Catholics. After the liquidation of Uniate Church in 1839, parishioners joined Orthodox Church, the church in Porplišča was reconstructed and consecrated according to Orthodox rite. However, the statue remained on its place, its cult continued existing and has preserved among both Orthodox and Catholic locals till today.
Dr. Izabella Parowicz
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Deciphering Old Russian Handwriting as a Tool to Explore Polish and Serbian Cultural Heritage

For more than a century, Russian language, culture, and customs were imposed on Poles in the Russian partitioned territories. As part of the repression that followed the outbreak of the January Uprising, the use of Polish was banned in public administration and church administration, alongside education. From then until 1918, official documents in the vast territory of the former Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth were written exclusively in Russian. The resources of Polish archives, libraries and museums, therefore, contain a vast amount of Russian-language material relating to Poland’s past. After 1989, the Russian language was quickly removed from the Polish school curriculum, and the majority of the younger generation of Poles is completely unfamiliar with this language and alphabet, so their access to documents on the history and culture of their homeland, written in the language imposed on Poles by the partitioning powers, is severely limited.

The aim of this lecture is to present and recall a forgotten, more than 300-year-old method of learning to read by writing, which can still make it easier for researchers to acquire the ability to read a foreign alphabet and make the contents of ancient manuscripts of interest to them written in a foreign (e.g. Russian) language more accessible. This method can also be highly beneficial for Polish researchers, e.g., art historians, examining Serbian archives and documents. It assists not only with texts in the modern Serbian Cyrillic alphabet standardized by Vuk Stefanović Karadžić’s reform (1814-1868), but also with those in Slaveno-Serbski, a literary language used by the Serbian educated elite in the Habsburg Empire (18th to early 19th century), which was a mixture of multilingual elements and, also in terms of its alphabet, strongly influenced by Russian and Church Slavonic.
Dr. Joanna Tomalska-Więcek
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The Oldest Icons in Podlasie

References to Orthodox churches and icons in the future Podlasie region date back to the 13th century, but the oldest preserved relics are dated to the 16th century. The lack of icons from that time is probably explained by the region's location on the cultural frontier, which resulted in invasions, looting and destruction, including of temples with their furnishings. Not many more icons date from several centuries later. The lack of 15th-century relics and the scant number from the 16th-17th centuries remains a matter of conjecture.

The earliest references relate to icons from the 13th century. All we know about them is what was mentioned in the Halych-Volyn Chronicle (the so-called Latopis Hipacki) about the Orthodox churches in Bielsk and the Orthodox church of the Mother of God in Mielnik, where Vasilko, Prince Daniel's brother, prayed in front of a venerated icon.

Nothing has survived from the following two centuries. It is possible that in the first decades of the 16th century, Sisoj ikonnik (icon painter Sisoj), whose name was among the founders of the great Naprestol'nyi krest (Naprestol cross), was working in the then-built brick church. It is not known where he came from, presumably he was the author of the icons in the first Orthodox church in Supraśl. Before the mid-16th century, Balkan painters appeared in Supraśl, about which laconic news was provided by Archimandrite Sergius Kimbar. These included the named Nectari Serbin, who was said to be the author, or rather one of the authors, of the Supraśl frescoes. A formal analysis of the frescoes indicates a larger number of painters, presumably there were at least three of them.

The few remaining 16th-century monuments in Podlasie are characterised by their high artistic level. This group includes the icon of Our Lady of the Sign, dating to the late 15th or first half of the 16th century, kept in the St Nicholas Orthodox church in Topilec, and the icon of Hodegetria in the Orthodox church of the Nativity of the Blessed Virgin Mary in Bielsk Podlaski. The latter icon has been repainted many times, the original painting on the Mother's hand being the eighth layer.

Other survived relics were presumably of local provenance. The right wing of the royal doors of the iconostasis dates from the early second half of the 16th century. The relic, repainted twice (in the first half of the 18th century and in the second half of the 19th century), depicted before conservation St Thomas the Apostle. A very interesting example of 16th-century painting in Podlasie is the icon of Hodegetria in the filial Orthodox church of St. Simon the Apostle in Brańsk, dating from the turn of the 16th and 17th centuries.

Another piece, possibly from the 16th century, although the turn of the 16th and 17th centuries cannot be ruled out, is the icon of St Nicholas with scenes from his life, preserved in the St Nicholas Orthodox church in Kleszczele. Neither the time nor the place of the icon's creation is clear; it is believed to have been painted in the territory of present-day Belarus.

A slightly larger number of icons have been preserved from the following century, including an icon of Hodegetria from an icon-painting workshop in Lipsk from 1626, a fragment of an iconostasis from the village of Topolany and a beautiful icon dated to 1640 from Drohiczyn. Presumably, during the wars with Moscow in the early 17th century, stolen icons from unknown Orthodox churches found their way into Podlasie Catholic churches. They are mentioned in 17th-century references in the visitations of the churches. Their considerable number began to decline in the following years, probably as a result of historical events: the annexation of Podlasie to the Russian Empire and the policy-related changes in the furnishing of churches.

While icons appeared as early as the 13th century, their museum collection was established rather late, in the 1960s. Many of the icons had already been stolen by then, others had fallen victim to fires. All this means that today it is very difficult to reconstruct the history of icons in Podlasie – there are too few survived relics. Fortunately, a few survived works can still be found.
Prof. Mirosław Kruk
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On the Research of the Icons from Przemyśl in the Framework of NCN Grant (OPUS 23 nr 2022/45/B/HS2/01852)

A few years ago, I completed a grant under the National Programme for the Development of the Humanities covering research on the oldest icons in the collection of the National Museum in Krakow (0435/NPRH4/H1b/83/2015 implemented in 2015-2019). Fifty icons from the 14th-16th centuries were studied and the results published in three volumes comprising an iconographic analysis of technological research and a set of photographs in analytical lights. The icons came primarily from Red Rus', but also from Northern Rus' (Novgorod) and Central Rus' (Moscow) and the Balkans. The publication is available in hard copy and a revised electronic version, freely available online.

I am currently pursuing a grant under the National Science Centre dedicated to the oldest icons in the collection of the National Museum of the Przemysl Region (2023-2027). Unlike the Kraków collection, this is a fairly homogeneous collection, comprising essentially icons of the Przemysl Land (former Red Ruthenia), dating between the 15th and 16th centuries. 34 icons are being studied in the laboratories of Toruń and Kraków. Thus, the University of Toruń, Jagiellonian University and the National Museum in Kraków are participating in the research. It is intended that most of the research will be of a similar nature to the previous grant, although the spectrum has been broadened to include new research instruments and methods. The result is expected to be the first scientific monograph of this extremely valuable collection in Polish and English against a comparative background.

